
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

Fort Myers Division 

Case No. --------

CHRISTIAN TOBIN, MATTHEW TRENT, JEFF DAVENPORT, 
ANDY KRAJEWSKI, COREY NELSON, FORREST CAMPBELL, 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 

GREATER NAPLES FIRE RESCUE DISTRICT, 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs bring this cause of action against their employer and Defendant the GREATER 

NAPLES FIRE RESCUE DISTRICT to secure overtime wages owed them pursuant to the federal 

Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §201 et seq. ("FLSA"). 

Parties 

1. Plaintiffs CHRISTIAN TOBIN, MATTHEW TRENT, JEFF DAVENPORT, 

ANDY KRAJEWSKI, COREY NELSON, FORREST CAMPBELL are residents of Florida, and 

work for Defendant GREATER NAPLES FIRE RESCUE DISTRICT (the "District") as Battalion 

Chiefs in Collier County, Florida. 

2. Plaintiffs are each an "employee" within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 

203(e)(l). 

3. Plaintiffs bring this action for a declaratory judgment, back pay, liquidated damages 

and otherreliefpursuant to 29 U.S.C. §207, 29 U.S.C. §216(b), and 28 U.S.C. §1331, to remedy 
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the Defendant's willful and unlawful violations of federal Jaw. 

4. Plaintiffa are identified in the caption of the Complaint and have given their consent 

to be party plaintiffs in this action pursuant to 29 l;.S.C. § 216(b). Written consents will be filed 

shortly after the filing of this Complaint. 

5. Each of the while employed by the District have been "fire protection 

employees" within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §203(y). 

6. The District is a Florida special taxing district that provides fire suppression and 

rescue services in Collier County, Florida. 

7. The Fire District is an "employer" as that rerm is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203( d) and 

is headquartered at 14575 Collier Blvd, Naples, FL 34119. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this lawsuit pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

9. This Court is the appropriate venue, as the events underlying this action occurred 

in Collier County, Florida. 

Statement of Facts 

10. The Plaintiffs are part of the oore group of firefighters who are required to respond 

to a typical call. 

11. Plaintiffs routinely work more than 53 hours per week and 212 hours in a 28-day 

period. 

12. The District has fifteen (15) fire stations. 

13. Each station is staffed similarly, with three 24-hour long shifts to ensure continuous 

24-hour coverage 365 days 11 year. The shifts are identified as A shift, B shift, and C shift. 
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14. The District assigns each B11ttalion Chief Plaintiff to a panicular shift and station. 

15. Defendant has in its custody and control the records showing the shift and station 

assignments of each Plaintiff during the relevant time period. 

Statemenr of Facts Relaied to Job Duties 

16. Within the last three years, and continuing to date, while working on behalf of the 

District, the Plaintiffs' primary job duty has been, and remains, to protect and serve the public by 

engaging in fire suppression and related activities. 

17. Plaintiffs' principal duties are the direct, on-site suppression of fires. 

18. Plaintiffs' primary job duty is emergency response. 

19. When an emergency call comes in, it takes priority. 

20. The Plaintiffs do not have discretion to decline to respond. 

21. The Plaintiffs are required to respond to all fire calls within the geographic 

boundaries of the Fire District. 

22. While on the scene of fire calls, the Plaintiffs, along-side their crew and facing the 

same hazards and danger, engage in the control, suppression, and extinguishment of fires and the 

rescue of fire or accident victims. 

23. The Plaintiffs are part of the J:lirc District's emergency response analog of units 

automatically dispatched to certain calls where they go into a fire scene to detennine whether there 

are any safety issues that might be present (i.e., endangered or trapped occupants, hazardous 

materials/substances, property exposures, levels, lhe structural integrity of the fire scene, etc.), 

to ensure the safety and security of the employees engaging in fire suppression activities. 

24. The Plaintiffs undergo training to hone front line firefighting duties, which is the 

same training as all other firefighters so that they are able to fulfill their first responder obligations 
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and assure a constant state of preparedness training. 

25. Plaintiffs despite their managerial title, spend more only about two (2) hours per 

month of their time on the job on manual or ministerial tasks such as data entry, inventory, 

delivering, ordering, completing assigned tasks, and other related functions which involve no 

exercise of independent discretion or meaningful authority over any Fire District employees. 

Further, some of these tasks are assigned to and performed by non-exempt employees. 

26. The Plaintiffs are not high-level fire officials contemplated as exempt as they lack 

the discretion to determine whether and where their assistance is needed. 

27. Whatever the precise importance of the Plaintiffs' non-firefighting duties; e.g. 

filling out evaluations, department reports, and/or station policies, fighting fires and emergency 

response is the more important part of their jobs. 

28. Plaintiffs, like non-exempt employees of for the District, work continuous, rotating, 

24 hour shifts, 7 days per week, with 48 hours ofleave between shifts; in contrast to the 8 hour per 

day, Monday through Friday shifts that the administrative and executive personnel work in the 

administrative offices. 

29. The Plaintiffs are assigned to work, and in fact do work, a regular and recurrent 

schedule of 24 hours on-duty, followed by 48 hours off-duty, which results in their working, on 

average 56 hours per week, and either 216 hours or 240 hours every 28 days. 

30. The Plaintiffs are therefore regularly assigned to work, and do work, in excess of 

53 hours per week and 212 hours in a 28-day period. 

Statement of Facts Related to the District's Pay Practices that Violate the FLSA 

31 . When the Plaintiffs work hours in excess of 53 hours per week and 212 hours in a 

28-day period, the Plaintiffs receive only straight time pay for their overtime hours. 
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32. At all relevant times, and ongoing, the straight time rate of pay, as opposed to time 

and one-half their regular r.i.te of pay, as opposed to time and one-half their regular rate of pay for 

any and all hours worked in excess of53 hoursperweekand212 hours in a28-dayperiod. 

33. Plaintiff.<1 estimate that their unpaid overtime for the duration of their employment 

over the last three (3) years equals Si20,000.00 per year per Plaintiff. 

34. 'This estimate is ba.'led on hours worked on a weekly basis, divided by the totol 

number of hours worked in each week, and then multiplying that figure by one half for each hour 

of overtime worked in that week (i.e., the unpaid half of the time and a half owed for each hour 

worked in excess of fifty-three). 

35. The District has treated Plaintiffs as salaried employees. 

36. The Plaintiffs' paychecks do not vary from week to week on acoount of hourl! 

worked unless there is a deduction made by the .District that amounts to a suspension of less than 

one week without pay. 

37. Plaintiffs, while salaried, do not perform duties that would exempt them from the 

overtime provisions of the FLSA. Each of the Plaintiffs should have received overtime wages for 

hours that they worked in excess of fifty-three in a work week. 

38. Defendant has refused to pay overtime wages to Plaintiffs, contending that 

Plaintiffa are exempt Administrative and/or Executive employees under Section 13(a) of the Act, 

as amended, 29 U.S.C.§213(a)(I). Defendant's contention is without merit. 

39. Plaintiffs are not paid on a salary basis, and the duties that Plaintiffs perform do not 

qualify as administrative or executive under the Act. 

Count 1- Failure lo Pay Overtime 

40. By failing to pay Plaintiffs overtime wages at the rate of one and one-half times 
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their base hourly wage rate for hours that they have worked in excess of 53 hours per week and 

212 hours in a 28-day period, the District has violated the FLSA. 

Count II - Retaliation 

41. On or about August 9, Plaintiff Christian Tobin, through his attorneys, provided a 

copy of a draft complaint alleging, in writing, that he was owed unpaid overtime wages under the 

FLSA. 

42. On August 23, Tobin received a suspension. 

43. The motivating factor in Tobin's suspension was the exercise of his rights under 

the FLSA. He would not have been suspended but for his allegations, in violation of the anti-

retaliation protections at 29 U.S.C. section 215 (a)(3). 

44. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that this Honorable Court enter judgment against 

defendant for back wages for the suspension and an equal amount of back wages as liquidated 

damages, attorneys' fees, costs; reinstatement or promotion; or other injunctive relief prohibiting 

defendant from discriminating in this manner; awarding damages for emotional distress, 

humiliation, and pain and suffering, front wages, as well as other damages recoverable by law 

under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 
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WHEREFORE the Plaintiffs request a trial by jury and a final order from the Court finding 

the District to have violated the FLSA with respect to its failure to pay overtime to them, directing 

the District to pay them their overtime properly, awarding them an amount equal to their unpaid 

overtime as liquidated damages, pre-judgment interest, costs, and attorneys' fees. 

This 29th day of August, 2018. 

D. Marcus Braswell, Jr., Esq., Trial Counsel 
Florida Bar Number 0146160 
Sugarman and Susskind, P.A. 
100 Miracle Mile, Suite 300 
Coral Gables, Florida 33134 
Tel. : (305) 529-2801 
Fax: (305) 447-8115 
Email: mbraswell@sugannansusskind.com 
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